1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
2			
3		Electronically Filed Nov 02 2021 09:45 p.	m
4		Elizabeth A. Browή	
5	MICHAEL ATTENDED CON	Clerk of Supreme Co	urt
6	MICHAEL ALLEN MACK,	CASE NO.: 83165	
7	Appellant,		
8	vs.		
9	THE STATE OF NEVADA,		
10	Respondent,		
11	ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUI	DICAL DISTRICT COURT IN AND	
12	FOR THE COUNTY OF NYE, THE HONORABLE KIMBERLY WANKER,		
13	TOR THE COUNTY OF WIE, THE HONORABLE KIMBERLY WANKER,		
14	PRESIDING		
15	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF		
16	David H. Neely III, Esq.		
17	NV. Bar No. 3891	Aaron Ford, Esq. Nevada Attorney General	
18	3520 E. Tropicana Ave., Suite D-1 Las Vegas, Nevada 89121	100 North Carson Street

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO FIND
THAT TRIAL COUNSEL CAUSED THE APPELLANT TO ENTER A
GUILTY PLEA WHILE SUFFERING THE EFFECTS OF A STROKE WAS
INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL PURSUANT TO STRICKLAND.

II.

WHETHER THE TRIAL ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO FIND THAT
TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO CONDUCT AN EFFECTIVE
INVESTIGATION PRIOR TO THE ENTRY OF GUILTY THE PLEA WAS
INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL PURSUANT TO STRICKLAND.

Ш.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO FIND THAT TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO INFORM THE APPELLANT OF THE CONSEQUENCES OF BEING A TIER 3 SEX OFFENDER PRIOR TO THE ENTRY OF HIS GUILTY PLEA WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL PURSUANT TO STRICKLAND.

IV.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO FIND
THAT TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO REVIEW THE FACTS OF HIS

Ш

CASE AND DISCUSS ANY DEFENSES WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL PURSUANT TO <u>STRICKLAND</u>.

V.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO FIND THAT TRIAL COUNSEL'S FAILURE TO INFORM THE APPELLANT OF THE CONSEQUENCES OF PLEADING GUILTY TO SEXUAL ASSAULT WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL PURSUANT TO STRICKLAND.

VI.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO FIND
THAT TRIAL COUNSEL HAD A CONFLICT OF INTEREST DURING HIS
REPRESENTATION OF THE APPELLANT WHICH HE NEVER DISCLOSED
TO HIS CLIENT WAS INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL
PURSUANT TO STRICKLAND.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Trial Court erred when it Denied Appellant's Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) and the Supplemental Points and Authorities in Support of Post-Conviction after an Evidentiary Hearing. These issues were substantial and constitutional in nature. There were six (6) instances of ineffective assistance of counsel in violation of <u>Strickland</u> that warrant a new trial.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On 04/15/2013, a Criminal Complaint was filed in Justice Court (Appx. 0001),

On 04/15/2013, a Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment in the Courtroom was filed in Justice Court (Appx. 0005),

On 04/25/2013, an Affidavit and Application for Appointment of Counsel was filed in Justice Court (Appx. 0006),

On 04/30/2013, a Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment in the Courtroom was filed in Justice Court (Appx. 0008),

On 05/08/2013, a Preliminary Hearing was held in Justice Court (Appx. 0009),

On 05/08/2013, a Media Request Allowing Electronic Equipment in the Courtroom was filed in Justice Court (Appx. 0132),

On 05/13/2013, a Bindover Order was filed in Justice Court (Appx. 0133), On 05/16/2013, an Information was filed in District Court (Appx. 0135),

On 05/17/2013, an Arraignment Hearing was held in District Court (Appx. 0140),

On 05/22/2013, an Order for Secondary Setting of Jury Trial was filed in District Court (Appx. 0166),

On 09/20/2013, a Motion for O/R Release Hearing was held in District Court (Appx. 0169),

On 07/12/2021, a Request for Transcript of Proceedings was filed in District Court (Appx. 0500),

#### **ARGUMENT**

# 1. STANDARD UPON REVIEW OF PETITION

NRS 34.770 sets forth the standard for this Court's review of the instant Petition and supporting documentation. NRS 34.770 states:

- 1. The judge or justice, upon review of the return, answer and all supporting documents which are filed, shall determine whether an evidentiary hearing is required. A petitioner must not be discharged or committed to the custody of a person other than the respondent unless an evidentiary hearing is held.
- 2. If the judge or justice determines that the petitioner is not entitled to relief and an evidentiary hearing is not required, he shall dismiss the petition without a hearing.
- 3. If the judge or justice determines that an evidentiary hearing is required, he shall grant the writ and shall set a date for the hearing.

Whereas here, the Petition sets forth specific allegations in the Petition or accompanying brief which if true, would entitle the petitioner to an evidentiary hearing unless those claims are repelled by the record. <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222, (1984); <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 110 Nev. 1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994). As stated in <u>Drake v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 523, 836 P.2d 52 (1992):

23

24

The question in this case is not whether appellant proved his counsel was ineffective, but whether appellant made allegations which entitled him to an evidentiary hearing. See <u>Hargrove v. State</u>, 100 Nev. 498, 686 P.2d 222 (1984); Grondin v. State, 97 Nev. 454, 634 P.2d 456 (1981).

# 2. INEFFECTIVENESS OF COUNSEL UNDER STRICKLAND

To state a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that is sufficient to invalidate a judgment of conviction, a defendant must demonstrate that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that counsel's errors were so severe that they rendered the jury's verdict unreliable. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 683 P.2d 504 (1984), cert. Denied, 471 U.S. 1004 (1985). The Petitioner must show that his counsel's performance was deficient, and that the deficient performance resulted in prejudice. Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430,432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984) An analysis does not require that both prongs be addressed if the showing of either is insufficient. In order to show prejudice, the petitioner must show "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different". Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome". Id. It is the petitioner's burden to establish both prongs.

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 692, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2067, 8 L. Ed.2d 674 (1984), the United States Supreme Court reaffirmed the, "Actual or

constructive denial of the assistance of counsel altogether is legally presumed to result in prejudice". The United States Supreme Court reaffirmed this ruling in Penson v. Ohio, 488 U.S. 75, 109 S.Ct. 346, 102 L.Ed.2d 300, (1988).

The Nevada Supreme Court held in <u>Sanborn v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279, 1283 (1991) that:

Focusing on counsel's performance as a whole, and with due regard for the presumption of effective assistance accorded counsel by this court and Strickland, we hold that Sanborn's representation indeed fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Trial counsel did not adequately perform pretrial investigation, failed to pursue evidence supportive of a claim of self-defense, and failed to explore allegation's of the victim's propensity towards violence. Thus, "he was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment". Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 105 S.Ct. at 2064.

In a post-conviction habeas petition, we evaluate claims of ineffective assistance of counsel under the test established in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). In that 1984 decision, the United States Supreme Court created a fair, workable and, as it turns out, durable standard that replaced Nevada's traditional "farce and sham test". Strickland dictates that our evaluation begins with the "strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance".

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. at 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). The Court

further explained that the "defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy." Id. Within the context of this strong presumption, the petitioner must demonstrate that his counsel's performance was deficient, falling below an objective standard of reasonableness, and that counsel's performance deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Id at 687. To establish prejudice based on counsel's deficient performance, a petitioner must show that, but for counsels errors, there is a reasonable probability that the outcome would be different .Id at 694. A court may evaluate the questions of deficient performance and prejudice in either order and need not consider both issues if the defendant fails to make a sufficient on one. Id at 697. Yet the claim that ineffective assistance of counsel prejudiced the petitioner is distinct from it's factual nucleus. Means v. State, 120 Nev. 1001, 103 P3d 25, 32, (2004).

Choosing consistency with federal authority, we now hold that a habeas corpus petitioner must prove the disputed factual allegations underlying his ineffective assistance claim by a preponderance of the evidence. Therefore, when a petitioner alleges ineffective assistance of counsel, he must establish the factual allegations which form the basis of his claim of ineffective assistance by a preponderance of the evidence. Next, as stated in <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a>, the petitioner must establish that those facts show counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and finally the petitioner must establish prejudice by

showing a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome would have been different, Means v. State, 120 Nev. 25, 103 P.3d 25,33, (2004).

Here, as in Marshall v. State, 110 Nev. 1328, 885 P.2d 603 (1994), the Petitioner alleged acts which, if true, entitle him to relief as ineffective assistance of counsel. The facts of this case demonstrate clearly that a different outcome would have resulted if counsel had been effective.

Counsel's constitutionally defective performance affected the outcome of the plea process.

In <u>United States v. Arvantis</u>, 902 F. 2d 489, 494-495 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. III, 1990), the Supreme Court stated:

To establish prejudice in the guilty plea context, a defendant must show that 'counsel's' constitutional performance affected the outcome of the plea process. In other words, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial'. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 59, 106 S. Ct. 366, 88 L. Ed. 2d 203 (1985).

In many guilty plea cases, the 'prejudice' inquiry will closely resemble the inquiry engaged in by court's reviewing ineffective assistance challenges to convictions obtained through a trial. For example, where the alleged error of counsel is a failure to investigate or discover potentially exculpatory evidence, the

determination whether the error "prejudiced' the defendant by causing him to plead guilty rather than go to trial will depend on the likelihood that discovery of the evidence would have led counsel to change his recommendation as to the plea. This assessment, in turn, will depend in large part on a prediction whether the evidence likely would have changed the outcome of the trial. Hill, 474 U.S. 59, 106 S. Ct. 366, 88 L.Ed. 2d 203 (1985).

(A) The Trial Court erred when it failed to find that Trial Counsel's failure to Conduct an effective investigation prior to the entry of the Appellant's guilty plea was ineffective assistance of counsel pursuant to Strickland.

The Trial Court stated in it's Order, "Trial Counsels investigator failed to conduct am effective investigation of the case prior to Mack entering an Alford Guilty Plea. The Court notes that at the time she arraigned Mack on December 6, 2013, the Court addressed with Mack a letter written to the Court by Mack dated November 19, 2013, wherein Mack complained that his attorney, Thomas Gibson, and the investigator had not met with him. (Appx. 0476)

The Court: Now I have received a letter from you that was dated November 19, 2013, that you - that was addressed to Mr. Gibson that you had sent me indicating you were concerned because - with the representation because he had not met with you, and Mr. Zane, the investigator, had not met with you. Do you still have concerns regarding Mr. Gibson and Mr. Zane? (Appx. 0476)

The Defendant: No, I do not.

The Court: And at this point are you satisfied with the representation that's been provided to you by Mr. Gibson?

The Defendant: Yes, Your Honor.

Mr. Gibson: Your Honor, may I clarify something? Mark Henry is our investigator.

The Court: I'm sorry, Mark Henry, I apologize. This said Mark and I assumed it was Mr. Zane.

Mr. Gibson: No, Henry.

The Court: So Mr. Henry, okay. And at this point as of today. December 6<sup>th</sup>, 2013, those concerns that you set forth in your November 19<sup>th</sup> letter have all been resolved, is that right?

The Defendant: Yes. Your Honor.

Mr. Gibson: Your Honor, for the record Mr. Henry and I have met with Mr. Mack. I met with him on multiple occasions since that letter, and Mr. Henry did at least one meeting with him and was working on the case up until the time we decided to reach this agreement.

The Court: Okay. Thank you, Mr. Gibson, I appreciate that.

Now do you think you've had enough time to discuss all the various aspects of this case with Mr. Gibson? (Appx. 0476-0477)

The Defendant: Yes.

23

24

Thus, by Mack's own admissions, there is no merit to his claim that the investigator Mark Henry failed to properly investigate Mack's claims. (Appx. 0477)

Trial Counsel retained an investigator but his investigator failed to conduct an effective investigation of the Appellant's case. The investigator never interviewed the alleged victim's husband's from her 4 previous marriages as to the mental capacity of the alleged victim. The investigator never interviewed any of the friends or acquaintances of the alleged victim as to the mental capacity of the alleged victim. The investigator interviewed the Petitioner's daughter as to her thoughts as to the mental capacity of her aunt. The mental capacity of the alleged victim was never properly investigated to show that the alleged victim was "not a person with mental illness." as alleged in Count I and Count VII in the Information. The investigator never attempted to track down any of the alleged victim's history of mental illness. The likelihood of the Appellant having a defense that would work at trial is highly unlikely with respect to Counts IV and Count VII and Count V and Count VIII.

At the Evidentiary Hearing, Trial Counsel was asked, "And did you hire an investigator in the matter?" Trial Counsel responded, "I did not." He was then asked, "And wasn't the alleged victim's mental capacity an issue in the case?" Trial Counsel responded, "Yes." He was then asked, "And at the preliminary hearing, I think you raised that issue with - with the alleged victim?" Trial

Counsel responded, "I did." He was then asked, "And I think you also raised that issue with Susan Kallaher from the State of Nevada's rehabilitation services?" Trial Counsel responded, "That, I don't - I don't recall." He was then asked, "So at the time you didn't have your investigator interview any of the alleged victim's four ex-husbands as to her mental capacity?" Trial Counsel responded, "I did not." He was then asked, "And - so you didn't have an investigator, so I take it you didn't interview any of the alleged victim's friends or acquaintances as to her mental capacity?" Trial Counsel responded, "No." He was then asked. "And both of you and – like we spoke earlier, both of you and Mr. Gensler, who was representing the co-defendant, cross-examined Susal Kallaher for the State?" Trial Counsel responded. "I don't recall that. But it - it's been a while." He was then asked, "And during the preliminary hearing when - I don't know if you recall, Mr. Gensler had Ms. Kallaher admit that the alleged victim had a long history of creating lies, fabrications and stories?" Trial Counsel responded, "Yes, I remember that." He was then asked, "And you didn't follow up with an investigator yourself on any - upon any of those allegations?" Trial Counsel responded, "No." (Appx. 0415-0416)

In the Supreme Court case of <u>Sanborn v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 399, 81 P.2d 1279, 1283, the Court held, "Focusing on counsel's performance as a whole, and with due regard for the strong presumption of effective assistance accorded counsel by this court and <u>Strickland</u>, we hold that Sanborn's representation indeed fell below

an objective standard of reasonableness. Trial counsel did not adequately perform pretrial investigation, failed to pursue evidence supportive of a claim of self-defense, and failed to explore allegations of the victim's propensity towards violence. Thus, he "was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment," <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S. Ct. at 2064.

This was an example of the poor pre-trial investigation, or the lack thereof, done by the defense prior to trial that led their client to plead guilty. Counsel must prepare the case at all levels, including preliminary matters in Justice Court.

Sanborn v. State, 107 Nev. 856, 822 P.2d 11 (1991). Counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and his errors were so severe that it caused the Appellant to plead Guilty in the instant case in violation of Strickland since there was a reasonable probability that he would have chosen to go to trial if there had been an effective investigation conducted.

(B) The District Court erred when it failed to find that Trial Counsel caused the Appellant to enter a guilty plea while suffering the effects of a stroke was ineffective assistance of counsel pursuant to <u>Strickland</u>.

The District Court stated in it's Order, "Trial counsel caused Mack to enter a guilty plea while suffering the effects a stroke." Mack claims he pled Guilty Pursuant to Alford under the effects of a stroke. The Court thoroughly canvassed Mack at the December 6, 2013 arraignment. (Appx. 0478)

The Court asked Mack if he was capable of moving forward on December 6, 2013 and also inquired as to whether Mack needed a continuance. (Appx. 478)

The Court: You've been provided a copy of the second amended Information wherein you've been charged with attempted sexual assault. It's a violation of Nevada Revised Statute 200.336 and Nevada Revised Statute 193.330. It's a category B felony. Do you understand the nature of the charge set forth in the second amended information.?

The Defendant: Yes, ma'am.

The Court: And have you had the opportunity to discuss this charge with your attorney, Mr. Gibson?

The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: As to the charge set forth in the second amended Information, how do you plead?

The Defendant: Guilty as offered.

Mr. Gibson: Under Alford.

The Defendant: Guilty under Alford.

The Court: Okay. Alford versus North Carolina is a U.S. Supreme Court decision from 1970 that is essentially - it's a guilty plea but what you're saying is the State can prove \_ you're not necessarily admitting that you're guilty, you're saying that the State has sufficient evidence and can prove the allegations set forth

in the Information beyond a reasonable doubt if the case went to trial. So I want to be sure you understand that and that's the plea you want to enter.

The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: Okay. And if you don't Mr. Mack, it's fine. We're happy to provide you with a trial. It's really up to you. I don't want anyone ever in my courtroom to feel pressured, that they've been pressured.

The Defendant: No. I understand, your Honor.

The Court: into some type of plea agreement. Before I can accept your Alford plea, I want to be certain that the pleas has been knowingly, freely and voluntarily entered into, and, in addition the guilty plea agreement that you signed, that you signed it knowing the terms and conditions of that, knowing and understanding the terms and conditions of that agreement and knowing that you knowingly, freely, and voluntarily entered into that agreement, so I am going to ask you some questions.(Appx. 0478-0479)

Later, in the same canvas the Court told Mack:

The Court: And do you agree that the State has sufficient evidence to prove the charges against you beyond a reasonable doubt to those facts as stated?

The Defendant: Well, I don't know if they have.

The Court: You know, Mr. Mack, if you don't know, and like I said, if you don't want to take this plea, that's fine. I've got it set for trial actually, and I can

also reset it for trial. So it's really up to you. I don't want you in any way to feel pressured into this plea.

The Defendant: Yeah, I understand that, your Honor, I agree. Some 20 pages later in the arraignment transcript, the Court again advised Mack:

The Court: Here's your opportunity, Mr. Mack, if you'd like to change your mind. And if you truly feel you don't want to enter this plea. I'm fine with that.

I'm happy to set it for trial. What I want to be certain is that you want to enter the - you enter the plea that you want to enter, that you don't feel pressured or otherwise forced in any way to enter a plea. While we do have it set on calendar next week, I'm even happy to continue the trial if you would like that, if you decide that you want to go to trial, okay?

The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: So I'm going to ask you now, here's going to be the moment of truth, it's your kind of last and final chance to enter your plea here. Based upon my questions and our discussion here this morning, what is your plea to the charge in the second amended Information of attempted sexual assault, a category B felony?

The Defendant: What is my plea? Guilty. I'm sorry, your Honor.

The Court: Okay. And that guilty plea will be entered pursuant to Alford; is that right?

24

The Defendant: Yes. Based upon the numerous opportunities the Court provided to Mack to continue the proceedings or change his mind, the Court finds that Mack's assertion that trial counsel made him enter a plea under the effects of a stroke to be without any merit." (Appx. 0481-0482)

At the Evidentiary Hearing, Trial Counsel was asked, "Okay. On - looks like on December the 4th an arraignment was held, but it was canceled due to an illness Mr. Mack had suffered?" Trial Counsel responded, "I can't - I couldn't hear you." He was then asked, "There was an arraignment on 12-4 in the District Court here, but it was canceled?" Trial Counsel responded, I have no independent recollection of that." He was then asked, "Okay. So if I were- if I told you that it was canceled because Mr. Mack had been taken to the hospital due to a stroke, would you remember that?" Trial Counsel responded, "I do remember him having some medical issues." He was then asked, "Okay. And then two days later on 12-6, if you remember another arraignment was held where Mr. Mack pled guilty to the Count 1 of attempted sexual assault?" Trial Counsel responded, "Yes." He was then asked, "Were you aware that Mr. Mack had just been released from the hospital, a result of a stroke, and was in recovery?" Trial Counsel responded, "I recall he was released from the hospital and had medical issues. To the extent what it was, I don't remember." He was then asked, "And did Mr. Mack ask you to continue the arraignment?" Trial Counsel responded, "I don't remember that." He was then asked,"Mr. Mack alleges that you told him to take the deal?" Trial

24

Counsel responded, "I'm sorry." He was then asked, "Mr. Mack alleges that you told him to take the deal?" Trial Counsel responded, "I don't remember the specific language between us two, bit I do recall that after reading - after the preliminary hearing and reading the discovery on file. And then there was another witness, I believe, and I can't recall - another alleged victim was going to materialize or - I got information on that. And based on the totality, I told him the best option - and this is my - I'm paraphrasing, but the best option - and this is my - I'm paraphrasing, but the best option was to try to minimize his exposure rather than run the risk of getting, you know, a greater sentence." He was then asked, "Thank you. And after - after you heard he had been ill, had a stroke, you didn't ask for a competency evaluation as a result of his stroke?" Trial Counsel responded, "He was communicating with me, so I saw no reason for it. And based on my history with the - with Lake's Crossing and they would find even people that are absolutely raving blithering lunatics to be competent, it doesn't - I only play that card when it's absolutely necessary." He was then asked, "I understand. And it appears that Mr. Mack's arraignment, that the - actually, the District Court said that she understood he had been under the weather during the arraignment; do you remember the Court -?" Trial Counsel responded, "I don't remember that." And I think, if you remember, the Court asked - he asked the Court if he could sit down and she agreed?" Trial Counsel responded, "I don't recall that." He was

then asked, "And do you recall she allowed him to sit during the proceedings?"

Trial Counsel responded, "Same answer." (Appx. 418-419)

Trial Counsel knew that the Appellant had just been released from the hospital as the result of a stroke he suffered while in the jail but still went forward with the Arraignment and subsequent Guilty Plea pursuant to Alford when he was aware that his client had just been released from the hospital as the result of a stroke and was still in recovery. Appellant was not of sound mind at the time of the entry of his plea and Trial Counsel should not have allowed his client to plead Guilty pursuant to Alford. Petitioner requested a continuance but was told by Trial Counsel to take the deal. Trial Counsel had a duty to request a Mental Competency Evaluation after the Appellant suffered a stroke to ensure that at the time of entry of plea he was of sound mind.

Counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and his errors were so severe that it caused the Appellant to plead Guilty in the instant case in violation of Strickland since there was a reasonable probability that he would have chosen to go to trial if he had a chance to consider his options after the effects of the stroke had passed.

(C) The Trial Court erred when it failed to find that Trial Counsel's failure to inform the Appellant of the consequences of being a Tier III Sex Offender prior to entry of his guilty plea pursuant to <u>Alford</u> was ineffective assistance of counsel pursuant to <u>Strickland</u>.

The Trial Court stated in it's Order, "Trial Counsel failed to advise Mack of the consequences of being a Tier III sex offender prior to the entry of his Alford Guilty Plea.

Mack claims that he had ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney, Thomas Gibson, Esq., failed to advise him of the consequences of being a Tier III sex offender prior to entry of the Alford guilty plea. The written Guilty Plea executed by Mack, and the transcript of the arraignment do not support Mack's assertion. First, the written Guilty Plea Agreement contains the following language:

# **CONSEQUENCES OF SEX OFFENSE**

"I agree to plead guilty to a sex offense, and I will be considered a Tier III offender. As a result I understand that I AM subject to sex offender register requirements as provided for in NRS 179D.450, and that I AM also subject to the lifetime supervision requirements of NRS 176.0931." (Appx. 0482)

"Mr. Mack, his attorney, and the Deputy District Attorney all placed their initials next to this provision. The reason for this, is that originally, the parties believed it was a Tier II offense. At the arraignment, the following occurred:

Mr. Gibson: Judge, we have a little housekeeping matter.

The Court: Sure.

Mr. Gibson: We have interlineated that the third "I" to make it a Tier III from II.

The Court: Okay. The Court: Do you have the executed guilty plea agreement? Mr. Gibson: Right here in front of me. The Court: And Mr. Mack initialed that clause, that change? Mr. Gibson: Your Honor, I suggest that both counsel also initial too – The Court: Yes. Mr. Gibson: -showing we're all in agreement. The Court then did an extensive canvass of Mack regarding the registration and supervision requirements for as a sex offender. The Court: Now I want to cover some things with you about that guilty plea agreement. Do you understand that as a result of your plea, the maximum is 20 years in the Nevada Department of Corrections? The Defendant: Yes. The Court: And I want to be sure that because this is a sex offense, do you understand that you will be required to undergo a psychosexual evaluation? The Defendant: I didn't know that but yes. The Court: But do you understand that will now I'm telling you - And I want to be sure that because this is a sex offense, do you understand that you will be required to undergo a psychosexual evaluation? The Defendant: Yes.

The Court: That you will be at some point required to undergo a psychosexual evaluation?

The Defendant: Uh-huh.

The Court: Because this is a sex offense, do you understand that you're going to have to have certain sex offender registration requirements and the supervision requirements will be lifetime, they will be lifetime requirements? Do you understand that?

The Defendant: Yes, now.

The Court: Okay. And has Mr. Gibson talked to you about the registration and the supervision requirements that you're going to be required to follow pursuant to the Nevada Revised Statutes by entering this plea?

The Defendant: He told me that I had to register but I don't know the details of the requirements, the procedure.

The Court: Would you like - would you like Mr. Gibson to go through the requirements with you?

The Defendant: Yeah. I don't have the details. I mean. I know I saw it that I have to register.

Mr. Gibson: We discussed this yesterday. Remember we talked about the 48-hour requirement and that you're required to whenever you change residences?

The Defendant: Yeah, I knew the residence but, I mean, not all when and...

The Court: Do you understand that as a result of entering this plea that you will have - you will be subject to lifetime supervision by parole and probation? Do The Court: Now, I'm telling you that you will be required to be subject to lifetime supervision by parole and probation, do you still want to enter your The Court: Okay. And do you understand that if you fail to register when you're required to do so, that you can be subject to a separate category D felony? The Defendant: A separate what, ma'am? 26

The Court: Category D felony for failing to register.

The Defendant: Yes.

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