1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2			
3	MICHAEL ALLEN MACK,	Case No. 83165 Electronically Filed Dec 22 2021 09:44 a.m	
4	Appellant,	Dec 22 2021 09:44 a.m Elizabeth A. Brown RESPONDENT Clerk of Supreme Court ANSWERING BRIEF	t
5	vs.		
6	THE STATE OF NEVADA,		
7	Respondent.		
8	RESPONDENT'S	ANSWERING BRIEF	
9	ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT	ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT	
10	DAVID H. NEELY III, ESQ.	CHRIS ARABIA	
11	Nevada Bar No. 3891 3520 E Tropicana Ave. Suite D-1	NYE COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY	
12	Las Vegas, NV 89121	P.O. Box 39 Pahrump, Nevada 89041	
13		Nevada Bar #9749	
14		JOHN J. FRIEL, JR. Deputy District Attorney	
15		Nevada Bar #4992	
16		ARRON FORD NEVADA ATTORNEY GENERAL

STATEMENT OF CASE AND ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Appellant Mack alleges six instances of ineffective counsel:

Whether it was ineffective assistance of counsel to allow Mack to enter his guilty plea while suffering the effects of a stroke.

Whether it was ineffective assistance of counsel to conduct an effective investigation prior to the entry of the guilty plea.

Whether it was ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to inform Mack of the consequences of being a Tier III sex offender prior to the entry of the guilty plea.

Whether it was ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to review the facts of the case and any offenses with Mack.

Whether it was ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to inform Mack of the consequences of pleading guilty to sexual assault.

Whether it was ineffective assistance of counsel to fail to inform Mack of a potential conflict of interest.

ARGUMENT

Despite many pages of case law, Mack has failed to support his claims with any specific allegations that if true would entitle him to relief, none.

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims has two elements: (1) that counsel's performance was deficient; and (2) that the deficient performance

1 2 3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

prejudiced the defense. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Warden v. Lyons, 100 Nev. 430, 432, 683 P.2d 504, 505 (1984).

To meet the first prong, the defendant would have to show that his attorney's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688, 104 S. Ct. at 2064. To do that, he must first "identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment." Id. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066. When scrutinizing the attorney's performance, the reviewing court must be highly deferential and "indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance; that is, the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy.'" Id. at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065 (citation omitted). "[C]ounsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment." Id. at 690, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

To meet the second prong, prejudice, the defendant would have to demonstrate "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome."

Id. at 694, 104 S. Ct. at 2068. Moreover, in order to prevail on such a claim, the defendant bears the burden of proving the disputed underlying factual allegations by a preponderance of the evidence. *Means v. State*, 120 Nev. 1001, 1012-13, 103 P.3d 25, 33 (2004).

To demonstrate prejudice regarding the decision to enter a guilty plea, a petitioner must demonstrate a reasonable probability, but for counsel's errors, petitioner would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 58-59 (1985); Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996).

A habeas petitioner who makes only "bare" or "naked" claims for relief, unsupported by specific factual allegations that would, if true, entitle the petitioner to relief, or makes only factual allegations belied or repelled by the record, will not even be entitled to an evidentiary hearing, much less relief on those claims. *See Hargrove v. State*, 100 Nev. 498, 502-03, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).

"Trial management is the lawyer's province: Counsel provides his or her assistance by making decisions such as 'what arguments to pursue, what evidentiary objections to raise, and what agreements to conclude regarding the admission of evidence." *McCoy v. Louisiana*, 138 S. Ct. 1500, 1508, 200 L. Ed. 2d 821, 830 (2018) (citing *Gonzalez v. United States*, 553 U. S. 242, 248,

unchallengeable absent extraordinary circumstances." *Howard v. State*, 106

Nev. 713, 722, 800 P.2d 175, 180 (1990), *abrogated on other grounds by Harte v. State*, 116 Nev. 1054, 1072 n.6, 13 P.3d 420, 432 n.6 (2000). In the instant case, the record supports neither a finding that trial counsel's performance was deficient, nor a finding that the defendant has been prejudiced.

In the instant case, the record supports neither a finding that trial counsel's

128 S. Ct. 1765, 170 L. Ed. 2d 616 (2008)). "Tactical decisions are virtually

In the instant case, the record supports neither a finding that trial counsel's performance was deficient, nor a finding that the defendant has been prejudiced.

I

The Opening Brief quotes the District Court's Order Dismissing Writ of Habeas Corpus where Mack stated he no longer had concerns regarding Trial Counsel and the investigator. (Appx 0476)

Mack then indicated that he was satisfied with the representation of Trial Counsel and all of his prior concerns had been resolved. (Appx. 0477)

The District Court concluded: "by Mack's own admissions, there is no merit to his claim that the investigator Mark Henry failed to investigate Mack's claims. (Appx. 0478)

II

Mack then argued Trial Counsel caused him to enter his guilty plea while suffering the effects of a stroke. Mack quotes page after page of the arraignment

(Appx 0478)

////

wherein the Court gave him multiple chances to continue, or change is mind and concluded that the assertion of being under the effects of a stroke meritless.

III

Mack claims that Trial Counsel failed to inform him of the consequences of being a Tier Ill sex offender. This despite signing the Guilty Plea Agreement that detail the specific consequences. (Appx. 0257)

The District Court concluded: "Mack cannot, in good faith claim he was unaware of the tier Ill registration and supervision requirements."

IV

Mack claims that Trial Counsel failed to review the case and discuss defenses.

The District Court concluded that his assertion was unsupported by the record of the arraignment. (Appx. 0488)

V

Mack claims that Trial Counsel failed to inform him of the consequences of pleading guilty to attempted sexual assault. This again is belied by the record wherein the Court went over the maximum possible sentence and registration requirements detailed in the plea agreement. (0257)

VI

Mack claims that Trial Counsel failed to inform him of a conflict of interest. The District Court concluded that there was no evidence of a conflict of interest, and nothing has been offered to support Mack's unsubstantiated claim.

(Appx 0489)

CONCLUSION

The Opening Brief is merely a repeat of previous arguments from the evidentiary hearing that the District Court found to be without merit. Based on that the State is requesting the appeal be denied.